## SUPREME COURT COPY

No. S183737 B214707

SUPREME COURT FILED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NOV 2 9 2010

	Frederick K. Ohlrich Cleri
In re C. H.,	)
A person coming under the Juvenile	) Deputy
Court Law	)
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	) CASE NO.: S183737
Plaintiff and Respondent,	Court of Appeal: B214707
<b>v.</b>	) Superior Court Case ) Number 2005040811
C. H., Defendant-Minor and Appellant.	) )
	)

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF VENTURA COUNTY

HONORABLE DONALD D. COLEMAN, JUDGE PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUSAN B. GANS-SMITH
State Bar No. 113765
PMB #237
1130 East Clark Ave., Ste. 150
Santa Maria CA 93455-5123
(805) 937-4649

#### QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May a ward be committed to the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Division of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) without any offense which falls within Welfare and Institutions Code section 707(b)?
- 2. May a ward be committed DJJ without any offense which falls within Welfare and Institutions Code section 707(b), if his only offense is a registrable sex offense?

- 3. Is it error to commit appellant to DJJ without evidence demonstrating probable benefit from his commitment there?
- 4. Is it error to commit appellant to DJJ when the evidence submitted to the juvenile court was overwhelming that appellant would not receive probable benefit from his commitment there?
- 5. Is it error to commit appellant to DJJ without adequately considering alternative placements, and was it improper to reject the ones offered?
- 6. Is it a violation of appellant's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment due process rights to commit him to DJJ when the evidence was overwhelming that there was virtually no chance the commitment would provide benefit to him and/or without adequately considering alternative placements?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### November 22, 2005, Original Petition.

On November 22, 2005, an original petition was filed against appellant, **age**13, pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 (I<sup>1</sup> CT 1-2). The
petition alleged a violation of Penal Code section 288(a), lewd act upon S.H., a
child under the age of 14, a felony (I CT 1).

On December 20, 2005, appellant admitted the charge (I CT 6, RT 3). The

<sup>1</sup> I CT refers to volume I of the Clerk's Transcript. II CT will refer to volume II.

court found that appellant came within the provisions of Welfare and Institutions

Code section 602 (I CT 6, RT 4). The court released appellant to his aunt pursuant
to a Community Confinement Contract which included electronic monitoring (I CT
5, 7, 56, RT 6).

On December 28, 2005, a probation memorandum was filed (I CT 9), alleging that, on December 23, 2005, appellant violated term 8 of the Contract by conversing with an older female on an unapproved sexual website (I CT 9). Appellant was arrested and transferred to the juvenile justice facility (JJF), Ventura County's juvenile hall (I CT 9). On December 28, 2005, the court found that appellant had violated the Contract, revoked its prior electronic monitoring order and the Contract, and ordered appellant detained in JJF (I CT 10, RT 10).

On January 5, 2006, disposition on the original petition took place (I CT 51-55, RT 12-16B). After reading the court file, the probation report (I CT 12-46), Dr. Martin's report (II SCT<sup>2</sup> 14-20), Dr. Singer's report (II SCT 2-13), and a letter from appellant's family members (I CT 46, 47), the court declared appellant a ward pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 602, and committed appellant to the care of the probation officer for placement in suitable open placement (I CT 51, 52, RT 12-16B).

Appellant was placed at Starshine in San Bernardino County on January 13,

<sup>2</sup> II SCT refers to the larger volume of the Clerk's Transcript prepared pursuant to appellant's Rule 8.340(b) request, marked "confidential" on the cover.

2006 (I CT 57, 60, RT 17).

#### Subsequent Probation Violations and Placements.

Over the course of three more years, appellant was found to be in violation of probation for failing to complete his school assignments and therapy assignments, resulting in different placements, and ultimately resulting in the commitment to DJJ on February 18, 2009. These subsequent probation violations are described below.

February 7, 2007, Notice of Charged Violations.

On February 7, 2007, a Notice of Charged Violations was filed (I CT 18-23), alleging appellant's failure to comply with program/placement rules by failing to complete therapy assignments and unsatisfactory participation in group therapy; appellant's failure to attend school by failing to complete assignments and failing several classes; and appellant's failure to complete other assignments (I CT 118-119).

On February 8, 2007, appellant admitted the allegations for failure to complete therapy assignments (I CT 118) and for failure to participate in group therapy (I CT 119) (I CT 139, RT 25, 26). Appellant was later placed at Rancho San Antonio (RT 44).

May 30, 2007, Notice of Charged Violations.

On May 30, 2007, a Notice of Charged Violations was filed (I CT 157-163).

It was alleged that, on May 18, 2007, appellant told a social worker that, in April of 2007, he and another resident had twice engaged in mutually consensual sex acts (I CT 158).

On May 31, 2007, appellant admitted the violation (I CT 178, RT 51). At that time, the court also had the probation department's detention hearing report (I CT 164-169), and the report of neuropsychologist Dr. Karen Schiltz (I ACT<sup>3</sup> 1-57), but had not yet read Dr. Schiltz's report (RT 49, 50). Appellant was continued a ward in the custody of probation for suitable placement (I CT 262, RT 53). After some gender identity issues surfaced, appellant was placed at Gay and Lesbian Adolescent Social Services (GLASS) in Los Angeles on June 20, 2007 (I CT 182, 185, RT 54, 55, 60).

May 1, 2008, Notice of Charged Violations.

On May 1, 2008, a Notice of Charged Violations was filed (I CT 252-258), alleging that appellant failed to comply with residential program rules by failing to complete assignments (I CT 252).

On May 2, 2008, appellant admitted the allegations (I CT 262, RT 68, 69, 70). Appellant was continued a ward, placed at GLASS, and was given 90 days in JJF stayed to July 18, 2008 in order to see if appellant's performance would improve (I CT 262, 263, RT 73, 74, 75, 76, 78). The court stated that, if appellant

<sup>3</sup> I ACT refers to the augmented clerk's transcript prepared pursuant to appellant's motion to augment the record.

did not do well in the interim, the court would impose the stayed 90 days (I CT 263, RT 75). Appellant was returned to GLASS (I CT 263, RT 76).

On July 18, 2008, probation reported that appellant had not changed his behavior and that he consistently failed to do his work (II CT 305, 306, RT 83).

The court continued appellant as a Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 ward and imposed the previously-stayed 90 days at JJF (II CT 309, RT 85).

On August 29, 2008, a probation memorandum reported appellant doing better and recommended early release from JJF back to placement (II CT 318-321). The court granted that request (II CT 322, RT 91, 92). Appellant was placed at GLASS on September 11, 2008 (II CT 324, RT 93).

A supplemental probation memorandum filed January 2, 2009 (II CT 334-354) reported appellant's behavior deteriorating in the form of a negative attitude and failure to work on assignments (II CT 335, 336). On that date, the court continued appellant in suitable placement (II CT 356, RT 98, 99), but directed probation to look into the likelihood of appellant getting into a sex offender program at CDCR/DJJ (II CT 357, RT 96, 97, 99).

January 5, 2009, Notice of Charged Violations; DJJ Disposition.

On January 5, 2009, a Notice of Charged Violations was filed (II CT 358-362), alleging that appellant failed to complete assignments for his sex offender program, that he made no progress, and that he failed to complete school

assignments (II CT 358, 359).

On January 6, 2009, appellant admitted the allegations (II CT 376, RT 101). On February 11, 2009, the disposition began (RT 109-128). The court announced (RT 109, 110) that it had a supplemental report from the probation department (CT 391-399, also available on February 4, 2009 (RT 106)), an updated report by Ventura County Behavioral Health by Dr. Yoshimura (II SCT 23-29, and an earlier memorandum from Dr. Yoshimura available on February 4, 2009 (II SCT 21-22, RT 106)), a report from Dani Levine of S.T.E.P. Group Corp. (I ACT 58-74, also available on February 4, 2009 (RT 107)). The court also heard testimony by Dr. Levine (RT 115-119).

On February 18, 2009, the disposition concluded (RT 129-144). The court heard from appellant's mother, who had located potential alternative placements (RT 130-131). The court committed appellant to DJJ on count 1, the violation of Penal Code section 288(a) sustained December 20, 2005, with the maximum term of confinement set as the upper term of 8 years, and with credits for 204 days (II CT 402, 406, 407, RT 139-143).

The court found that the offense did not fall within Welfare and Institutions

Code section 707(b) (II CT 402, 406, RT 140, 141). The court stated that

appellant was committed to DJJ because the court believed that appellant would be

able to participate in the adolescent sex offender program there, and requested

notification if such would not occur (II CT 403, RT 142, 143).

#### Post-DJJ-Disposition Proceedings.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on March 16, 2009 (II CT 412, 413).

Appellant was delivered to DJJ on April 6, 2009 (I<sup>4</sup> SCT 1).

On May 18, 2010, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the judgment. Appellant filed a timely Petition for Rehearing on May 28, 2010, requesting that the Court of Appeal consider certain of appellant's contentions omitted from or inaccurately stated in the opinion, and to modify the opinion to reflect certain omitted or inaccurately stated evidence. The Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing on June 15, 2010.

On June 21, 2010, appellant filed a Petition for Review in this Court. On September 1, 2010, this Court granted the petition for review<sup>5</sup>.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Since this offense was adjudicated by an admission, the facts are as expressed in probation reports.

On October 17, 2005, appellant, age 13, was with his 3-year-old sister, S.H.,

<sup>4</sup> I SCT refers to the brief volume I of the Supplemental Clerk's Transcript prepared pursuant to appellant's Rule 8.340(b) request.

<sup>5</sup> On the same date the Court of Appeal's Opinion was issued, the Court of Appeal issued an Order denying appellant's related petition for writ of habeas corpus (B219096) without issuance of an order to show cause (as reflected in the Court of Appeal's Opinion). Appellant filed a separate Petition for Review from that order. That petition for review was denied by this Court on September 1, 2010.

in the family's vehicle parked outside a grocery store, while his father and 8-year-old sister M.H. were inside the store (I CT 14, 16). Appellant was observed by a 15-year-old witness in another vehicle (I CT 14). Appellant licked S.H.'s vagina and had her suck his penis (I CT 14, 15, 16).

Although not part of the instant charges, appellant had been in counseling for touching his sister M.H.'s vagina and touching her twin brother B.H. approximately a year earlier (I CT 15, 16). Neither M.H. nor B.H. had been touched by appellant since (I CT 15).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

#### APPELLANT IS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR COMMITMENT TO DJJ BECAUSE HE HAS NOT BEEN FOUND TO HAVE COMMITTED A WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 707(b) OFFENSE

It is submitted that appellant is not eligible for commitment to DJJ because the threshold requirement of a Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>6</sup> section 707(b) offense has not been met, regardless of the fact that appellant's offense was a sex offense described in Penal Code section 290.008(c).

Pursuant to the plain meaning of sections 731 and 733, appellant may be committed to DJJ only if he has a section 707(b) offense and the most recent

<sup>6</sup> All further statutory references will refer to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

offense is either a section 707(b) offense or a sex offense described in Penal Code section 290.008(c). The existence of a section 707(b) offense is an essential prerequisite to a commitment to DJJ.

## A. Appellant May Not Be Committed To DJJ Unless He Has Committed A Section 707(b) Offense.

In order to be eligible for commitment to DJJ, appellant must have, at least at some point, committed an offense described by section 707(b). (Section 731(a)(4).) Section 731(a) provides in pertinent part:

- "(a) If a minor is adjudged a ward of the court on the ground that he or she is a person described by Section 602, the court may order any of the types of treatment referred to in Sections 727 and 730 and, in addition, may do any of the following:

  \*\*\*
- (4) Commit the ward to the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Division of Juvenile Facilities, if the ward has committed an offense described in subdivision (b) of Section 707 <a href="mailto:and">and</a> is not otherwise ineligible for commitment to the division under Section 733." (Emphasis added.)

By the plain meaning of section 731(a)(4), in order to be committed to DJJ, appellant must have committed a section 707(b) offense. By the terms of section 731(a)(4), even with a section 707(b) offense, a ward could still be ineligible under section 733, but section 733 does not come into play unless the threshold requirement of a section 707(b) offense is met.

Appellant was adjudicated to have committed only a violation of Penal Code section 288(a), a lewd act upon his sister. While this offense brought

appellant within the provisions of section 602, it was not an offense listed in section 707(b), and the juvenile court so found. (Section 707(b); II CT 402, 406, RT 140, 141.)

A section 707(b) violation is, for dispositions occurring after the effective date of the applicable statutes, the sine qua non for a commitment to DJJ.

## B. The Provisions Of Section 733 Do Not Provide An Exception To Section 731(a)(4)'s Requirement Of An Underlying Section 707(b) Offense.

It is submitted that the plain language of section 731(a)(4) requires the existence of two things: (1) a section 707(b) offense and (2) that there is no further ineligibility pursuant to section 733.

Section 733 provides in pertinent part:

"A ward of the juvenile court who meets any condition described below <u>shall not</u> be committed to the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Division of Juvenile Facilities:

\*\*\*

(c) The ward has been or is adjudged a ward of the court pursuant to Section 602, and the most recent offense alleged in any petition and admitted or found to be true by the court is not described in subdivision (b) of Section 707, unless the offense is a sex offense set forth in subdivision (c) of Section 290.008 of the Penal Code." (Emphasis added.)

It can be seen that the mention of a sex offense in this context cannot be used to counteract the clear base requirement of section 731(a)(4) that there be a section 707(b) offense at some point. Section 731(a)(4) provides the minimum

requirement for commitment to DJJ. It is the eligibility statute. Section 733 then provides circumstances for ineligibility even if the minimum requirement is met, but then says that that ineligibility (i.e., the fact that the petition be the most recent) does not render an otherwise eligible ward ineligible just because the most recent offense is not a section 707(b) offense if that most recent offense is an enumerated sex offense.

In other words, <u>section 733 provides further additional limitations on</u>

<u>eligibility for DJJ commitment</u>. It declares conditions of ineligibility, which would logically only apply or even be a consideration if and only if the threshold eligibility requirements were met.

As set forth, section 733 provides that **an otherwise eligible ward** would nevertheless be ineligible unless the most recent offense was a section 707(b) offense. It then goes on to provide that **an otherwise eligible ward** would not be made ineligible just because the most recent offense was not a section 707(b) offense, <u>if</u> that most recent offense were an enumerated sex offense.

This provision does not negate section 731(a)(4), but rather just limits the application of an ineligibility principle.

By the plain, clear, and unambiguous terms of section 731(a)(4) he may not be committed to DJJ.

## C. The Principles Of Statutory Interpretation Require The Threshold Of A Section 707(b) Offense Even If The Most Current Offense Is An Enumerated Sex Offense.

The fundamental principles of statutory interpretation or construction have been frequently stated. As set forth in *Beal Bank, SSB v Arter & Hadden*, *LLP* (2007) 42 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 503, 507, statutory interpretation begins with an analysis of the language of the governing statute. See also, *People v Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007. Words are afforded their ordinary and usual meaning, as the words the Legislature chose to enact are the most reliable indicator of its intent. (*Vasquez v California* (2008) 45 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 243, 251.)

If the text evinces an unmistakable plain meaning, we need go no further. (Beal Bank, supra, at p. 508; Microsoft Corp. v. Franchise Tax Bd. (2006) 39 Cal.4th 750, 758.) See also, V.C. v Superior Court (2009) 173 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1455, 1467; and In re J.L. (2008) 108 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 32, 55.

As set forth in Woodhead, supra, 43 Cal.3d at pp. 1007, 1008:

"When the language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction."

Woodhead, supra at p. 1010, goes on to state:

"It is a settled axiom of statutory construction that significance should be attributed to every word and phrase of a statute, and a construction making some words surplusage should be avoided." Parts of a statute should be harmonized by consideration of the questioned clause in statutory context. (See *Valov v Tank* (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 867, 874.)

Statutes should generally not be interpreted in a manner which renders portions thereof mere surplusage. (*People v Craft* (1986) 41 Cal.3d 554, 560; *People v Smith* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 630, 641, quoting *Dyna-Med, Inc. v Fair Employment* & *Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-1387; see also *In re Jerry R.* (1994) 29 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1432, 1437.) It is inappropriate to read into a statute language it does not contain or elements that do not appear on its face. (*Vasquez, supra*, 45 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 253.)

Finally, there is the "rule of lenity." Where a penal statute is susceptible of two or more interpretations, courts should generally construe the statute "as favorably to the defendant as its language and the circumstances of its application may reasonable permit." (*Keeler v Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619, 631; *People v Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 891, 896 ["The defendant is entitled to every reasonable doubt as to the true interpretation of words or the construction of a statute. [Citations.]"]; *Bradwell v Superior Court* (*People*) (2007) 156 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 265, 270.)

Section 731 was modified and sections 731.1 and 733 were added by SB 81 (c. 175, operative September 1, 2007), and sections 731 and 731.1 were modified by AB 191 (c. 257, operative September 29, 2007).

It is submitted that the language of sections 731(a)(4) and 733 is unambiguous and thus the plain meaning controls. If the legislature had meant not to require a section 707(b) offense ever if the offense were a sex offense, it could and should have said so in the language of section 731(a)(4). Yet it did not. Instead, it required a section 707(b) offense and then, even in the face of that, found a ward ineligible if the most recent offense was a non-707(b) offense which was not also an enumerated sex offense.

However, the result should be the same even if we consider the legislative intent behind the 2007 modifications to the statutes. *V.C., supra*, notes that the legislative purpose for these revisions was that the legislature intended only currently violent or serious juvenile offenders, and those whose behavior was escalating, to be sent to DJJ starting on September 1, 2007. (*V.C., supra*, 173 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1468, 1469.) *V.C., supra* at p. 1469, cites *In re N.D.* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 885, 891, where that court recognized this, stating:

"Like the court in *In re N.D.* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 885, 891-892 [84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 517], we also find it helpful background to realize section 733(c) was enacted as part of chapter 175 of the Statutes of 2007 in order to make "necessary statutory changes to implement the Budget Act of 2007 ....." (Stats. 2007, ch. 175, § 38.) According to the court in *In re N.D.*, "[a] report of the California Little Hoover Commission explains the budget impact. To settle a lawsuit brought on behalf of inmates of state juvenile facilities, the state entered into a consent decree in November of 2004. The cost of compliance with the consent decree proved to be high: 'Realizing the state could not afford to comply with the ... consent decree, in 2007, policy-makers acted to reduce the number of youth offenders housed in state

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