SUPREME COURT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re C.H.,

a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

C.H.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S183737

SUPREME COURT **FILED**

FEB 28 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Six Case No. B214707 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 2005040811 The Honorable Donald D. Coleman, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Section 202 was revamped in 1984, to shift "its emphasis from a primarily less restrictive alternative approach oriented towards the benefit of the minor to the express "protection and safety of the public" [citations], where care, treatment, and guidance shall conform to the interests of public safety and protection." (In re Carl N. (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 423, 432-433, quoting In re Michael D. (1987) 188 Cal.App.3d 1392, 1396.) Section 202 for the first time permitted a juvenile court to consider "punishment as a rehabilitative tool." (Id. at p. 432.) "Thus, it is clear that the Legislature intended to place greater emphasis on punishment for rehabilitative purposes and on a restrictive commitment as a means of protecting the public safety." (Id. at p. 433, quoting In re Michael D., at p. 1396.) "It is also clear . . . that a commitment to [DJJ] 'may be made in the first instance without previous resort to less restrictive placements." (Ibid., quoting In re Asean D. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 467, 473; see also In re Robert M., supra, 2011 WL 255803, *4 [minor who committed violation of Penal

Code section 288, subdivision (a), was sent to DJJ without any attempt at other options].)

A juvenile court's commitment to DJJ may be reversed "only upon a showing the court abused its discretion." (In re Robert M., supra, 2011 WL 255803, *4, quoting In re Robert H. (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1317, 1329-1330; accord, In re Carl N., supra, 160 Cal.App.4th at pp. 431-432.) "Discretion is abused whenever the court exceeds the bounds of reason, all of the circumstances being considered." (In re Carl N., at p. 432, quoting People v. Giminez (1975) 14 Cal.3d 68, 72; accord, In re Stephanie M. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 295, 318-319.)

An appellate court will not lightly substitute its decision for that rendered by the juvenile court. We must indulge all reasonable inferences to support the decision of the juvenile court and will not disturb its findings when there is substantial evidence to support them. [Citation.] In determining whether there was substantial evidence to support the commitment, we must examine the record presented at the disposition hearing in the light of the purposes of the Juvenile Court Law.

(In re Michael D., supra, 188 Cal.App.3d at p. 1395, quoted in In re Carl N., supra, 160 Cal.App.4th at p. 432.) The evidence is viewed "in the light most favorable to the judgment which is required by the familiar rules governing appellate review." (People v. Sons (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 90, 93, fn. 3, citing People v. Cole (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1158, 1212 and People v. Kraft (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978, 1053.)

"A DJJ commitment is not an abuse of discretion where the evidence demonstrates a probable benefit to the minor from the commitment and less restrictive alternatives would be ineffective or inappropriate." (In re Robert M., supra, 2011 WL 255803, *4, quoting In re M.S. (2009) 174

Cal.App.4th 1241, 1250; see also § 734; In re Carl N., supra, 160
Cal.App.4th at p. 433; In re Michael D., supra, 188 Cal.App.3d at p. 1396.)

B. The Juvenile Court Was Well within Its Discretion in Committing Appellant to DJJ after He Failed at Three Other Programs

The juvenile court here committed appellant to DJJ only after his failed placement at three previous programs as well as a relative's home. Appellant's behavior over three years as a ward of the court demonstrated a complete lack of motivation, lack of remorse for, or acknowledgement of, his offenses, and a continued threat to the children of the community if he did not show he was amenable to the treatment he received. The evidence before the court demonstrated that commitment to DJJ would likely benefit appellant and that less restrictive alternatives would be ineffective and inappropriate. The juvenile court therefore did not abuse its discretion by committing appellant to DJJ.

First, the seriousness of appellant's offense cannot be overstated. He molested his three-year-old sister in public, licking her vagina and putting his penis in her mouth. (1CT 14-16.) The nature of his actions in committing that offense, as well as his years of previous sexual misconduct with his two other siblings and friends (1CT 15-16, 18-19), showed appellant to be a clear danger to the community. His sexual misconduct continued while in placement. (1CT 9, 69, 157-158; 2CT 335.) In the final probation report, the officer recounted appellant's history and recommended DJJ commitment "[d]ue to his high risk to re-offend." (2CT 394.)

Second, numerous programs, therapeutic models, and therapists had been attempted, and appellant failed with every one. Even before his appearance in juvenile court, appellant's parents sought treatment for him because of his sexual misconduct. He first went to counseling for about a year when he was caught with a neighbor boy at seven years old. (1CT 18.) His mother later switched therapists, and appellant had been in therapy with his then-therapist for almost a year when he committed the underlying offense here. (1CT 23.) His therapist reported that appellant had not improved, and continued to be a danger to the community. (1CT 23.)

About six months after being placed at his first placement facility, Starshine, appellant "had an incident with another minor involving inappropriate sexual conduct." (1CT 69.) After a year at Starshine, he had "made little improvement," and his therapist reported he "continue[d] to be at a high risk to re-offend." (1CT 98.) Appellant admitted violating probation by failing to complete therapy and school assignments, and having little to no participation in group therapy. (1CT 118-119, 139.) His therapist reported he had tried "several different therapeutic approaches" to try to gain appellant's participation, but to no avail. (1CT 119.)

Appellant was sent to another placement, Rancho San Antonio, and within about three months, appellant engaged in two consensual sex acts with another resident. (1CT 157-158, 178.) He admitted planning the sexual encounters to avoid detection. (1CT 158.) It was reported that appellant "failed his first treatment program after 13 months of substandard progress," and he "demonstrated the same lackluster effort while at Rancho San Antonio." (1CT 159.)

Appellant was terminated from that program and was sent to a third placement for treatment, GLASS, which was selected specifically to address appellant's recently discovered gender identity issues, as well as for sex offender treatment. (1CT 158-159, 178, 182.) Appellant at first appeared to adjust to the program there, but his laziness and lack of motivation was a perpetual problem. (1CT 213.) After almost a year at GLASS, appellant admitted violating probation by failing to complete his sex therapy assignments. (1CT 252, 262.) The probation officer noted, "Of

great concern is his lack of progress in the sex offender program." (1CT 266.)

It became clear that appellant's lack of motivation and failure to do what was required of him, was not due to some learning disability or neuropsychological problem, as had been previously surmised. Appellant admitted to his therapist and mother that for years he had deliberately "played dumb" and pretended not to understand so that less would be expected of him. (1CT 253-254.) He admitted deliberately not doing his best on psychological exams he had taken. (1CT 254.) These admissions were borne out when appellant was made aware of an upcoming court date and worked steadily to complete his assignments on time and in a thoughtful manner. (1CT 254.) These admissions and observations supported the therapist's characterization of appellant as intelligent but manipulative and lazy. (1CT 253.) They also severely undermined any claim that appellant had learning disabilities.

In an attempt to help motivate appellant, the juvenile court ordered that he serve 90 days in DJJ, which was stayed to allow appellant the opportunity to participate in his sex offender therapy at GLASS. (1CT 262-263; 1RT 74-76.) Appellant still did not participate, failing to complete even simple sex offender group assignments. (1CT 305-306.) Appellant admitted he did not do the assignments because he "just didn't feel like . . . it." (1CT 305.)

The court imposed the previously-stayed 90 days at DJJ. (1CT 308-309.) Appellant's progress at DJJ was reported as "satisfactory," and he participated in sex offender counseling there. (1CT 318-319.) Based on appellant's positive report, the juvenile court granted an early release. (1RT 91-92.)

A few months later, appellant again admitted violating probation by failing to follow program rules, failing to complete sex offender therapy assignments, and making no progress. (2CT 358, 376.) Appellant told the probation officer he did not do the work because he did not want to do it. He said he could have easily done it if he so desired. (2CT 359.) The report stated, "Probation and GLASS staff have tried every conceivable intervention, including incentives, rewards, and meaningful consequences; however, he has failed to make any progress in his [sex offender] program." (2CT 335.)

A probation report filed with the court evaluated appellant's history of failed treatment and noted, "[t]he various placements have tried different therapeutic approaches, . . . [h]owever, the minor has failed to respond." (2CT 394.) After this long history of three failed placements, each of which was chosen because of its sex offender treatment program and potential to help appellant, appellant was finally committed to DJJ.

Third, appellant showed absolutely no progress throughout his three years in placement. Appellant repeatedly engaged in inappropriate sexual conduct. (1CT 9, 69, 157-158; 2CT 335.) He consistently failed to participate in therapy and sex offender treatment. His participation was so dismal that he was voted by his peers to return to the entry level sex offender group after over a year at GLASS. (1CT 265-266.) Both at the beginning of placement and the end, it was reported that appellant did not show any empathy for his victims or understand the affects of his actions. (1CT 119, 265.) After three years and three programs, he remained at "high risk to re-offend." (2CT 294.) In short, every therapeutic program attempted had been completely ineffective, and there was no reason to believe that yet another program would be any different.

Finally, the juvenile court was singularly focused on the goal of successfully treating appellant, if possible. The court found, "we should do everything we can to get [appellant] the treatment that he needs. Right now I think we're just moving him from one program to another and we're not

getting success in any of them." (1RT 98.) The court further found, appellant had "been molesting children since he was seven years old. He's now 16 years old, and he's not getting any benefit of treatment." (1RT 98.) The court also found the DJJ program was "the place where he can receive the appropriate level of treatment and supervision and we can do what we can to not cure, but do what we can to help him control whatever those feelings were that caused him to molest children. [¶] I think the longer we wait, the longer we run the risk of not helping this young man." (1RT 123.)

The court asked probation to ensure appellant would be able to participate in the sex offender program, and if not, ordered that he be returned to the court for consideration of other alternatives. (1RT 97, 102, 142-143.) The court had previously attempted to motivate appellant with a short stay at DJJ. (1RT 74-76, 84-85.) Notably, appellant received a positive report during his stay, and did so well that his term was cut short and he was returned to GLASS. (1CT 318-319; 1RT 91-92.) This provided substantial evidence of a probable benefit to appellant from commitment.

Appellant inappropriately relies on information beyond the scope of the record in this case and claims the juvenile court based its assessment of the DJJ program on its own "grossly outdated" experience, as opposed to any evidence before it. (AOB 28-30.) It is true that the trial court expressed its strong belief that the DJJ sex offender treatment program was "topnotch" (1RT 110-111), however, the probation report filed with the court provided evidence detailing the program. The report stated appellant had been screened for commitment and would participate in the "sex behavior treatment programs." (2CT 393.)

The report described the program in detail: it took an average of 24 months to complete and was broken down into three phases; the Orientation Phase was about 28 weeks long and provided the minor with "an

understanding of treatment concepts, rules of group therapy, psychological testing, and overall rules/expectations"; The Core Program Phase was about 40 weeks, and included "an intense exploration of their sexual offender behavior patterns, identifying triggers, antecedents, perceptions, cognitions and emotions"; and the Relapse Phase was 20 weeks wherein the minor would develop "a detailed plan on how to interrupt the sexual offending cycle and prevent or eliminate criminal behaviors." (2CT 393-394.)

The report stated appellant would also participate in groups on victim awareness, anger management, and family dynamics. Mental health services would also be available to appellant. (2CT 394.)

The probation report reviewed appellant's failed history in placement at "three very reputable programs." Despite the best efforts of the therapists, staff and probation, "appellant continued to reject these efforts and has instead chosen to waste time and has displayed a serious lack of commitment to his treatment. The minor's continued defiance and resistance to treatment justify his need for a structured program that is able to provide aggressive treatment." (2CT 394.) There was thus substantial evidence presented to the court of a probable benefit to appellant from DJJ commitment.

Appellant claims the juvenile court abused its discretion because it did not agree with doctors' reports that DJJ would not be a good fit for appellant and did not send appellant to yet another placement. (AOB 28-36.) Appellant presented additional out-of-state placements to the juvenile court as alternatives to DJJ. Although the court listened to the claimed merits of these programs, the court was under no obligation to send appellant to them. (In re Carl N., supra, 160 Cal.App.4th at p. 433 ["commitment to [DJJ] 'may be made in the first instance without previous resort to less restrictive placements'"]; see also In re Robert M., supra, 2011 WL 255803, *4.) The court considered placement at the programs but

expressed concern about its authority to send appellant out of state and provided appellant a week to determine if such placement could be authorized. (1RT 109-119, 124-127, 129-132.) In the end, the court determined commitment to DJJ was the best alternative for appellant and for the public's protection. (1RT 123, 136-137.)

In sum, appellant already had a long and disturbing history of sexual misconduct by the time he became a ward of the court at 13 years old. He failed to respond to therapy, despite numerous and varied opportunities and programs. He continued to engage in sexual misconduct while in placement. Finally, a more structured and aggressive program was available to appellant at DJJ. This substantial evidence supported the juvenile court's findings that a DJJ commitment would be a probable benefit to appellant, and that less restrictive alternatives would be ineffective or inappropriate. The trial court's decision to commit appellant to DJJ after three years of failure at three programs did not "exceed the bounds of reason," and was therefore not an abuse of discretion. (See *In re Robert M., supra*, 2011 WL 255803, *4; *In re Carl N., supra*, 160 Cal.App.4th at p. 432.)

¹³ As appellant acknowledges (AOB 39, fn. 8), he did not object on constitutional grounds in the juvenile court. To the extent his constitutional claim requires analysis that could have been but was not addressed in the juvenile court, it is forfeited. (See *People v. Partida* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, 435.) If it is not forfeited, appellant's claim of constitutional violation based on his commitment (AOB 39-42), should be rejected for the same reasons discussed in the text above. (See e.g., *People v. Davis* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 463, 506, fn. 7 [a defendant who simply "recasts his state claim under constitutional labels" does not create a federal constitutional violation].)

CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the Court of Appeal's decision affirming appellant's commitment to DJJ should be upheld.